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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR
THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

JOHN CALDERAIO
c¢/o WEIR GREENBLATT PIERCE
1339 Chestnut Street, Suite 500

Philadelphia, PA 19107 . CIVIL ACTION NO. 2:23-cv-4218
Plaintiff,
V. . JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

CENTRAL BUCKS SCHOOL DISTRICT
20 Weldon Drive, Doylestown, PA 18901

Defendant.

COMPLAINT

1. Former Central Bucks School District (“CBSD” or “District”) student, John
Calderaio (“Mr. Calderaio” or “John”) brings this action against the Central Bucks School District
pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. 8
1681, along with state tort claims of negligent supervision, transfer and retention, to redress
permanent, life altering injuries he suffered as a result of the District’s failure to protect him from
sexual abuse by Central Bucks West High School Choir teacher and known child predator, Joseph
Ohrt. Mr. Calderaio seeks damages to compensate him for the District’s violations of his right as
a child and student to be free from gender discrimination including sexual harassment, sexual
assault, and a hostile educational environment. At the time the sexual assaults occurred, John
Calderaio was a student attending Central Bucks West High School (“CB West”), a Bucks County,
Pennsylvania public school. CB West Choir Director, Dr. Joseph Ohrt (“Ohrt’), groomed, sexually
harassed, abused, and assaulted John throughout the entire time he attended high school, from

fifteen to eighteen years old. The District knew that Ohrt had sexually abused its children,
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including elementary and high school students, for at least three decades before permitting him to
have access to John. The District permitted Ohrt to have unsupervised, sanctioned, and one-on-
one, access to John in remote areas of the school despite having explicit and scary information that
he presented a sexual danger to other students throughout his career. Despite this notice, and a
policy which required the District to conduct an investigation, they did nothing to protect John, or
to prevent his teacher from grooming, and repeatedly harassing and sexually abusing him. In 2023,
Ohrt was convicted of the sexual crimes he committed against John and two other children. Ohrt
was designated a convicted sex offender and sent to state prison.
PARTIES

2. Plaintiff John Calderaio (currently 25 years old) is a citizen and resident of the State
of Florida, whose address is being kept confidential for his safety and privacy. He can be contacted
through the offices of his attorneys, as set forth below.

3. Defendant Central Bucks School District is a local government agency established
and organized under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and is a citizen of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania for the purposes of jurisdiction. CBSD receives federal funding
and financial assistance within the meaning of 20 U.S.C. § 1681(a) and is otherwise subject to
Title IX. The Central Bucks School District’s administrative office is located at 20 Welden Drive,
Doylestown, PA 18901. The District operates Central Bucks West High School, a public school,
which is located at 375 West Court Street, Doylestown, PA 18901.

JURISDICTION & VENUE

4. This case arises under the Constitution and laws of the United States, specifically,
Title IX of the Education Amendments of (Title 1X), 20 U.S.C. 88 1681 et. seq., and 42 U.S.C. §

1983.
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5. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 88 1331, 1332, 1343 and 1367.
Additionally, federal jurisdiction exists due to the diverse citizenship of the Plaintiff, a citizen of
Florida and Defendant, a citizen of Pennsylvania, and the amount in controversy in this in matter
exceeds the sum or value of $150,000, exclusive of interest and costs.

6. Venue is properly laid in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391(b) because
Defendant resides in this district and the events giving rise to the claims occurred in this district.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

7. The District hired Ohrt in 1987 as an elementary school teacher.

8. As the Linden Elementary School choir teacher, Ohrt sexually molested 11-year-
old student Richard Roe (an alias) during the 1991-1992 school year.

9. Ohrt removed Roe from his classroom and escorted him to the music room under
the guise of piano lessons. Ohrt sat Roe on his lap at the piano and touched Roe's penis over his
clothing. Ohrt then put his hands down Roe’s pants and underwear and touched his penis as Roe
struggled to get away.

10.  Shortly thereafter, Roe’s mother reported the incident to the principal orally and in
writing, and to a Linden Elementary School guidance counselor.

11. Roe testified under oath about Ohrt’s abuse during his June 12, 2023, sentencing
hearing.

12.  Although the District received complaints about Ohrt's sexual misconduct
involving Roe, and it knew or should have known that he presented an ongoing danger to children,
it failed to meaningfully and appropriately investigate the complaints and meted out no discipline.
The District’s failures enabled and emboldened Ohrt to continue to sexually abuse the District’s

children and discouraged victims, witnesses and others from reporting future misconduct.
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13. On information and belief, the District committed a criminal act by failing to report
Ohrt’s sexual crimes against Roe to the police or Children and Youth Services as it was required
to do under 23 Pa. C. S. § 6311. See Heinrich v. Conemaugh Valley Mem. Hosp., 648 A.2d 53, 57-
58 (Pa. Super. 1994).

14, Instead of reporting the abuse and taking steps to neutralize the threat Ohrt
presented to its student, the District “passed the trash” by transferring Ohrt from Linden
Elementary to CB West High School before the 1992-1993 school year.

15. When Roe, the molested student, entered CB West High School, Ohrt repeatedly
retaliated against him, including calling him a “rat”.

16. In 1995, Ohrt molested 13-year-old male student Peter Poe (an alias) who had
agreed to babysit for him at his home.

17. When Ohrt returned home from a night out he went into the basement alone with
Poe, came up behind him, put his arms around him, put his hands down Poe's pants, touched his
penis and kissed him.

18. On June 12, 2023, Bucks County Court of Common Pleas Judge Jeffrey L. Finley
sentenced Ohrt to two and a half to five years of confinement and five years of probation for
Indecent Assault, 18 Pa.C.S. § 3126 and Corruption of Minors, 18 Pa.C.S. 8 6301, for molesting
Poe and Roe.

19. Despite knowing that Ohrt was a dangerous man, the District provided him with
exclusive use of an office in a remote part of CB West which he would use to isolate and sexually
abuse John and other male students behind a closed door. This behavior was so routine, that

students began to refer to his office as the “rape room”.
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20. In 2013, one of the students who observed Ohrt bringing boys into the “rape room”
called Ohrt a “pedophile” and other names in class. Ohrt reported K.G. to CB West administrators
who suspended her instead of investigating the serious charge she made against Ohrt.

21. Throughout her time at CB West, K.G complained about Ohrt to her CB West
guidance counselor including telling her that Ohrt “liked boys” and was “in love” with two specific
male students and referred to one of the male students as Ohrt’s “butt buddy.”

22. The guidance counselor told K.G. that complaints against Ohrt “go back years and
years.”

23. CB West music teacher Bridgett Szychulski was arrested on September 16, 2014,
for sexually abusing a 14-year-old student in 2012 when she had been the band teacher at Lenape
Middle School. According to the Department of Education, “the criminal charges stem from
allegations that [Szychulski] engaged in sexual contact with [the] fourteen-year-old male student
both on and off school grounds, including having oral sex and sexual intercourse with the student
and sending the student sexually-explicit text messages.”

24.  The District moved Szychulski from Lenape Middle School to CB South High
School prior to her arrest. In June of 2015, Szychulski was convicted, sentenced to prison, and
designated as a sex offender. she pled guilty.

25. Like Ohrt, Ms. Szychulski carried out this sexual abuse both inside of her office
and in a storage room near the band room — both of which were in remote locations within the
school.

26. During a September 23, 2014, Central Bucks School Board Meeting, then
Superintendent Dr. David Weitzel addressed the sexual misconduct charge filed against Ms.

Szychulski, assuring “the School Board and families that the district will continue to review its
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policies and current health and safety curriculum. The district will also continue to cooperate with
the District Attorney’s office and will monitor the outcome of the legal process.”

217. Despite knowing that Szychulski used her private office in a remote location to
abuse a student and knowing that Ohrt had a history of sexually abusing students, and that a student
called him a pedophile, reported that he was sexually interested in boys, and used his “rape room”
to isolate them, Central Bucks School Board did not meaningfully change its practices or provide
additional oversight of Ohrt.

28. John met Ohrt in 2013 when he started at CB West in 10" grade as a 15-year-old.

29. John went to CB West because he was aware of its prestigious choir program run
by Ohrt.

30. Ohrt repeatedly committed the crimes of Indecent Assault, 18 Pa.C.S. § 3126, and
Institutional Sexual Assault, 18 Pa.C.S. § 3124.2, upon John while he was a CB West student, as
described below.

31.  John took choir and participated in extracurricular choir related programs which he
had to try out for, during both semesters of his sophomore, junior, and senior years.

32. Ohrt was also John’s music and independent study teacher, extracurricular activity
advisor, and homeroom teacher — the District assigned choir students to Ohrt for homeroom so that
he would have more time with them — ostensibly to practice.

33. In addition to his age, Ohrt selected John as an abuse target because of his
vulnerabilities.

34.  As part of the grooming process, Ohrt convinced John to share the most intimate
details of his parents’ struggles and disagreements, and the instability of his household and living

situation.
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35. Ohrt weaponized the information John shared to isolate him from his support
network by methodically undermining his relationships with his father, brother, and friends, and
by convincing John that Ohrt was the only adult who could be trusted and who would look out for
John’s welfare.

36. Ohrt had so thoroughly convinced John that he could be trusted and that he was a
caring, protective father figure to him, that John wanted to emulate Ohrt by becoming a school
choir director just like him.

37. Ohrt exploited this trust and fostered John’s dependence by making false promises
that he would make sure that CB West would make him their next Choir Director when he finished
college.

38. Ohrt manipulated John so thoroughly that John enrolled in Temple University’s
Music Education program to pursue that career goal.

39. During John’s junior year, his father, Anthony Calderaio (“Anthony”), noticed that
his son was not acting like himself.

40. Anthony met with the high school administration to report his concern that Ohrt’s
relationship with his son was inappropriate and concerning.

41.  Despite knowing of Ohrt’s sexual misconduct history, the High School
administration failed to conduct a meaningful investigation, if any at all, and never John about the
relationship.

42. During John’s junior year, Ohrt repeatedly gave him rides from the school in his
car in violation of CBSD Policy, which states, “A staff member may not transport students in a

personal vehicle except where specifically permitted.”
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43. Ohrt brought John in and out of his car which was parked in the faculty parking lot,
which is used by other teachers and administrators who parked in the same area.

44, Ohrt provided John with other inducements, such as hall-passes and free concert
tickets, permitting him to conduct the choir, buy and bring food for him.

45, Ohrt told John that he loved him and required that John to say it back to him.

46. Ohrt would take retaliatory actions designed to punish John when he attempted to
resist Ohrt’s attempts to isolate him for sexual access.

47. Ohrt repeatedly sexually abused John at CB West in the choir room, the men's
dressing-room which was near the theater department, and in his office.

48.  On one representative occasion during John’s junior year, Ohrt came up from
behind him started intimately hugging him and grinding his genitals into John’s backside.

49. Ohrt repeatedly grabbed John’s butt, patted his stomach, and intentionally touched
John’s penis over his clothing.

50. Ohrt sexually abused John on multiple occasions during his junior and senior years.
The sexual assaults included touching John’s genital areas over the clothes, grinding against him
while erect, frequent intimate hugs, and kissing the back of his neck.

51. During his senior year, Ohrt forced John to spend all of his school time with him —
and took steps to isolate him from, and prevent him from socializing with, his peer group.

52. Ohrt pulled John out of lunches and brought him to the remote choir area and forced
John to eat with him.

53.  John’s peers shunned him for the way Ohrt treated him and made fun of him by

saying he and Ohrt were a “couple” and that John was gay.
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54, On multiple occasions, Ohrt positioned himself outside of the school’s dressing
room bathroom and listened to John as he used the bathroom.

55. Ohrt gave John hall-passes so that he could remove John from his other classes in
order to have sexual access to him.

56. Ohrt arranged, with the administration’s approval, for John to take an independent
study class with him during his senior year so that he could have “sanctioned” one on one time
with John.

57. Ohrt used the independent study as a pretext to increase his sexual access to John
at a time and place he knew no other students or staff had a reason to be present.

58. During independent study, the first class of the day, John was alone with Ohrt, who
would be very handsy and touchy — often in his office and dressing room, including touching
John’s genital areas over the clothes, grinding against him while erect, and frequent intimate hugs
and kissing the back of his neck.

59. A few months before the end of John’s senior year, while on a choir concert trip,
he and Ohrt were in a changing room while John was undressing, Ohrt instructed John to go into
another room where no one else was present.

60. Once there, Ohrt sat in a chair opposite John and moved his face to within inches
of John’s face and started rubbing John’s thigh and telling him that he loved him and was proud
of him all the while inching his hands toward John’s penis, Ohrt’s sexual misconduct was
interrupted by someone entering the room.

61. In April 2016, an anonymous Childline Report was made against Ohrt for abusing

students.
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62.  The District, in violation of its policies, failed to conduct an investigation into the
allegations, never interviewed John or offered him support.

63. In 2016, Ohrt displayed a sexualized photograph of former CB West student, “JR”,
without his shirt on amongst other photographs of undressed young men in a barn studio next to
his home, a location to which Ohrt would regularly invite John and other CB West students.

64. The District continued to employ Ohrt for several years after John graduated and
during which time he continued to abuse other students, including J.M. in 2021.

65. A second Childline Report was levied against Ohrt in 2021, disclosing Ohrt’s
inappropriate relationship with John.

66. Central Bucks Regional Police Department Detective Sergeant Paul Kreuter
brought John in for questioning and told him that they had received another sexual abuse complaint
against Ohrt.

67. Detective Kreuter told John that they had recovered video of John surreptitiously
taken by Ohrt the depicted him changing in and out of his clothes in a room he used and believed
was private.

68. On June 12, 2023, Bucks County Court of Common Pleas Judge Jeffrey L. Finley
sentenced Ohrt to three years of probation for Invasion of Privacy, 18 Pa.C.S. § 7107 and
Tampering with Evidence, 18 Pa.C.S. 8§ 4910, related to this violation of John’s trust, the final
betrayal following years of abuse.

69.  Asadirect and proximate result of the Defendant’s actions and inactions, John
Calderaio has suffered violations of his constitutional rights and rights protected under state and

federal law.

10
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70. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendant’s actions and inaction, John
Calderaio has suffered in the past, and will continue to suffer in the future, severe pain and
suffering, both emotional and physical, including but not limited to, mental anguish,
embarrassment, humiliation, and emotional and physical distress, depression, and anxiety, all to
his great detriment and loss.

71. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendant’s actions and inaction, John
Calderaio has suffered in the past, and will continue to suffer in the future, discrimination, financial
debt, loss of education and benefits, loss of educational opportunity, loss of employment

opportunity and loss of professional advancement, all to his great detriment and loss.

COUNT |

PLAINTIFF v. CENTRAL BUCKS SCHOOL DISTRICT
CIVIL RIGHTS VIOLATION UNDER 42 U.S.C. 81983

72.  The preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are incorporated as though fully set
forth herein.

73.  Ohrt’s sexual abuse, the grooming and sexual assaults, inappropriate sexual contact,
groping and molesting, and the District’s deliberate indifference to the danger he presented,
violated the Plaintiff’s Fourteenth Amendment right to bodily integrity.

74.  The District’s deliberate indifference included, but was not limited to:

a) Refusing to investigate Ohrt’s sexual misconduct or discipline him despite a
complaint from a parent in during the 1991-92 school year that Ohrt had

molested her 11-year-old son (Roe);

11
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b) The District’s transferring Ohrt to CB West despite the fact that it knew or
should have known that he was a sexual predator and would place other students
at risk of being sexually abused;

c) Failing to adequately supervise Ohrt’s, including failing to police the remote
area of the school which he occupied,

d) Failing to adequately supervise Ohrt’s relationship with John Calderaio.

e) The District’s failure to address allegations that Ohrt engaged in sexual
misconduct with John;

f) Placing Ohrt in a position of trust and control with respect to John, including
but not limited to sanctioning and independent study despite the knowledge that
they had that he presented a danger to John and its other students.

g) Failing to timely investigate or take any proper disciplinary action against Ohrt,
who the District knew, or should have known, posed a significant threat to
John’s health, safety and welfare;

h) Failing on multiple occasions to properly and timely investigate Ohrt’s
relationship with John;

i) Failing to follow proper policies and procedures to ensure identification,
reporting and investigation of sexual abuse of students by teachers; and

j) Disregarding information and evidence that Ohrt had and was sexually abusing
CBSD students, including John.

75.  The District, through its highest-level decision makers, failed to investigate,

discipline and protect vulnerable students, after receiving notification of the instances of improper,

12
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inappropriate, and unprofessional contact between, or conduct by, Ohrt, as set forth in the
preceding paragraphs.

76. At all material times, the District acted under color of state law and the District
acted through its administrators, school board members and other agents, servants and employees.

77. The District’s deliberate indifference and failure to follow its written policies, as
set forth above, created a climate in which Ohrt could and did with impunity prey upon multiple
students, including John, by sexually and emotionally abusing them.

78. The District’s deliberate failure to discipline Ohrt and its deliberate decision to
transfer him to cover up his sexual assault of Roe, enabled and emboldened Ohrt to abuse other
District students, including John.

79.  Asadirect and proximate result of the aforesaid District customs, practices, and/or
policies, John was deprived of his rights, privileges and immunities secured by the constitution or
laws of the United States, specifically his liberty interest in personal bodily integrity and freedom
from sexual assault and abuse guaranteed under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States
Constitution.

80. As a result of the District’s violation of Mr. John’s constitutional rights, he has
suffered in the past, and will continue to suffer damages as aforesaid.

COUNT 1l

PLAINTIFF v. CENTRAL BUCKS SCHOOL DISTRICT
VIOLATIONOFTITLE IX,20U.S.C. §1681

81.  The preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are incorporated as though fully set

forth herein.
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82.  The District, an educational institution that received federal funding, violated Title
IX by denying John Calderaio access to his education on the basis of his sex, and as a result of
gender discrimination.

83. Ohrt’s sex-based harassment was so severe, pervasive, and objectively offensive
that it deprived John of access to educational opportunities or benefits_provided by the school.

84.  The District created and/or subjected John to a hostile educational environment in
violation of Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681(a) (“Title I1X”),
because:

a) he was a member of a protected class;

b) subjected to sexual harassment in the form of a sexual assault and sexual
harassment by a teacher;

c) subjected to harassment based on his sex; and

d) subjected to a hostile educational environment created by the District’s lack of
policies and procedures and/or failure to properly investigate and/or address the
sexual assaults and subsequent harassment.

85.  The District and its officials had actual knowledge of Ohrt’s sexual misconduct.

86.  The District’s failure to promptly and appropriately respond to the sexual
misconduct resulted in John, on the basis of his sex, being excluded from participation in, being
denied the benefits of, and being subjected to discrimination in the District’s education programs
in violation of Title IX.

87.  The District failed to take immediate, effective remedial steps to resolve the sexual

harassment complaints and instead acted with deliberate indifference toward John.
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88. Instead of following its own policy with respect to investigating allegations of
sexual misconduct, the District refused to initiate an investigation, on multiple occasions, which
its policies required it to undertake.

89. Based upon the foregoing violations of Title IX of the Education Amendments of
1972, 20 U.S.C.81681, et. seq., John has suffered in the past, and will continue to suffer in the
future, damages as aforesaid.

COUNT 111
PLAINTIFF v. CENTRAL BUCKS SCHOOL DISTRICT

SUPPLEMENTAL STATE LAW TORTS
NEGLIGENT RETENTION, TRANSFER AND/OR SUPERVISION

90.  The preceding paragraphs of this Complaint are incorporated as though fully set
forth herein.

91.  The District acted negligently resulting in the injuries to John for which damages
are sought based upon the following:

a) failing to report the sexual assaults and/or abuse perpetrated by Ohrt to the
proper child welfare and law enforcement authorities despite having reasonable
suspicions and/or actual knowledge in violation of the laws of the Pennsylvania,
including, inter alia, the Child Protective Services Law, 23 Pa.C.S. 8 6311(a)(4),
a crime;

b) failing to take any action in stopping and/or preventing the sexual assaults
and/or abuse perpetrated by Ohrt;

c) failing to supervise and train Ohrt;

d) failing to supervise and train persons who were responsible for supervising

Ohrt;
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f)

9)

h)

)

k)

ratifying and accepting the inappropriate actions of Ohrt;

failing to disseminate and enforce an appropriate policy against sexual
harassment;

failing to train staff to protect against the risk of sexual assault and sexual
harassment of students;

Failing to train staff in proper procedures and requirements for mandatory child
abuse reporting in accordance with the Pennsylvania's Child Protective Services
Law, 23 Pa.C.S. 8 6311 et seq.;

failing to supervise John while he was a minor and student entrusted to
Defendant's care and supervision, and while standing in loco parentis to John;

failing to supervise Ohrt when Defendant knew or should have known of that
he presented a danger, in the form of sexual abuse and related harms, toward
children;

failing to exercise due care in all circumstances;

failing to come to the aid or rescue of John after placing him in a perilous
situation, when the District knew, or should have known, that John was being

victimized by a predatory adult;

m) failing to warn John or otherwise make reasonably safe the property which

n)

0)

Defendant possessed and/or controlled:;

failing to take immediate and appropriate corrective actions to remedy the
known harassment and sexual assault by Ohrt;

failing to adopt, enforce, and/or follow any polices or procedures for the

protection and reasonable supervision of minors;
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p) improperly investigating or not investigating allegations of sexual harassment
and abuse;
q) violating CBSD’s own assumed and voluntary duties undertaken by it for the
protection of minors;
r) Ratifying the improper sexual acts of Ohrt and breaching the duties imposed by
Restatement (Second) of Agency, § 219.
92.  Asadirect and proximate result of the negligence, willful misconduct, intentional
and/or criminal conduct of Defendant, John Calderaio has and will continue to suffer damages as

aforesaid.

JURY DEMAND

93. Plaintiff demands a jury trial as to each count and claim.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, John Calderaio, asks the Court to enter judgment in his favor
and against the Defendant and to award him the following relief:

(A)  General and compensatory damages;

(B)  Attorney fees and costs; and

(C)  Such other relief as the Court deems just and equitable.

LAW OFFICE OF ANDREW SHUBIN WEIR GREENBLATT PIERCE LLP

By: /s/_Andrew Shubin By: ©
Andrew Shubin Alan L. Yatvin

310 South Burrowes Street Noah Cohen

State College, PA 16801 1339 Chestnut Street, Suite 500
(814) 867 3115 Philadelphia, PA 19107
shubin@shubinlaw.com (215) 665-8181

ayatvin@wgpllp.com
ncohen@wgpllp.com
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